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MR. BACON REPLYS TO THE GOVERNMENT’S BRIEF AS 
FOLLOWS 

 
Sonzinsky v. United States 
 
 The government argues that Sonzinsky v. United States, 300 US 506 (1934) 

is dispositive in its favor because the Supreme Court held that firearms license fees 

did not violate the United States Constitution’s tax provisions. The government is 

wrong. Sonzinsky did not challenge the firearms license fees based on Article I, 

§9, Clause 5 of the constitution. The Court did not address Article I, §9, Clause 5. 

Contrary to the government's assertion, Sonzinsky is inapposite and not dispositive. 

Brown v. Maryland 

 Brown v. Maryland, 25 US 419 (1827) has never been overruled. This 

nation's founders were fully aware that the federal government was a compact of 

sovereign states. Justice Marshall, a man intimately familiar with the founders, 

specifically and forthrightly observed in Brown that shipments of goods from a 

state were exports from that state. 

 Any interpretation that asserts that Article I, §9, Clause 5 applies only to 

exports to locations beyond the United States is belied by the actual wording of the 

clause, “No Tax or Duty shall be laid on Articles exported from any State.” The 

clause does not say "from the United States" or “from any State to a foreign 

Nation.” It says "from any State." 
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 Even if the government's position is correct - that Article I, §9, Clause 5 is a 

living, breathing provision that has changed since 1827 - the Gun Control Act of 

1968 is still unconstitutional. The Gun Control Act of 1968 purports to make it a 

crime to export a firearm beyond the United States unless the exporter is licensed 

by the federal government1. Since the Gun Control Act of 1968 imposed a 

licensing requirement for exports of firearms beyond the United States, it violates 

Article I, §9, Clause 5. An unconstitutional Act is a void Act. 

Hierarchy of Laws 

 Mr. Bacon does not argue that he is not bound by any law. To the contrary, 

Mr. Bacon recognizes a hierarchy of laws. Unlike the government today, Mr. 

Bacon recognizes that God exists, that God has promulgated laws, that man-made 

law is subordinate to God's laws, and that when a man-made law conflicts with one 

of God's laws the man-made law is invalid. Mr. Bacon — along with Thomas 

Jefferson and Abraham Lincoln — knows that natural law is supreme. 

 Examples of natural law superseding man-made law are legion. For 

example, no American2 can argue that a Dutch family hiding a Jew from the Nazis 

during the Second World War violated any valid Nazi-made law requiring that all 

Jews be handed to the authorities.  

                                                           
1  See footnote 4 of Mr. Bacon’s opening brief. 
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 The government misunderstands Mr. Bacon's arguments and observations. 

The Second Amendment did not grant Mr. Bacon the right to keep and bear arms. 

Mr. Bacon had that right at least as soon as he became accountable for his actions. 

The right to keep and bear arms — in particular — and the right to defend himself 

— in general — were given to him and to all men and women by God. 

 The Second, Ninth, and Tenth Amendments to the United States 

Constitution do not grant Mr. Bacon the right to keep and bear arms. They prohibit 

the federal government from restricting or infringing that right. The Fifth 

Amendment to the United States Constitution does not grant Mr. Bacon the right to 

own property (including the right to alienate property he owns). It prohibits the 

federal government from taking his property from him without affording him due 

process. 

Commerce Clause 

 When interpreting the Commerce Clause, one should always begin with its 

words. They are: “The Congress shall have Power *** To regulate Commerce with 

                                                                                                                                                                                           
2  For an American to argue that Nazi, Jew-extermination-laws were valid is 
unthinkable because of the high price paid by his country to save the Jews and 
terminate Nazi crimes against humanity. 
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foreign Nations, and among the several States3, and with the Indian Tribes.” US 

Constitution Article I, §8, Clause 3. 

 The constitution does not define “commerce.” The word implies profit-

seeking. Compare the definitions for “commerce” and “commercial” at page 456 

of Webster’s Third New International Dictionary of the English Language 

Unabridged (2002). The definition for “commerce” refers to “commercial.” The 

definition for “commercial” includes, “from the point of view of profit : having 

profit as the primary aim.” 

 Mr. Bacon is well aware of the New Deal Era judicial interpretations of the 

power deemed to have been granted Congress by Article I, §8, Clause 3 and the 

fact that the Supreme Court has not repudiated the extreme interpretation accorded 

that provision in Wickard v. Filburn, 317 US 111 (1942). 

 Three important points remain. First, Mr. Bacon was convicted of selling or 

transferring 5 firearms in Oregon – not across any state line. Second, no evidence 

was offered that showed or tended to show that Mr. Bacon sold or transferred the 5 

firearms for a profit4 or with profit as a motivating factor. Third, the law Mr. Bacon 

was convicted of violating purports to criminalize transfers of firearms by persons 

                                                           
3  Compare the language of the Commerce Clause with that of the Export 
Clause. The founders chose to include the words, “foreign Nations,” in the former 
but not in the latter. 
4  The evidence showed that the firearms were exchanged for money. Money is 
a medium for exchange. Money is not, by itself, profit. Profit is gain. 
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who have not sought or obtained a license to sell firearms – in other words, persons 

who are not holding themselves out as being engaged in a business related to 

firearms5. 

 The constitution does not authorize Congress to regulate (or criminalize) 

non-commercial conveyances of property from one part of a state to another part of 

the same state. To the extent that the Supreme Court has so authorized Congress, 

its authorization was itself, ultra vires. 

Gun Control Act of 1968 

 At trial and on appeal the government portrays the Gun Control Act of 1968 

as a noble, reasonable means for protecting the people of the United States. The 

history of the Gun Control Act of 1968 is anything but noble. To the contrary, the 

Gun Control Act of 1968 was either a panicked reaction of the white power 

structure faced with wide spread rioting by urban African Americans or a blatant 

usurpation of power or both. Not only was the Gun Control Act of 1968 racially 

motivated, it was little more or less than an English translation of statutes used by 

Nazi Germany to disarm and then destroy German Jewry.  A. Zelman, Gun Control 

Gateway to Tyranny (Jews for the Preservation of Firearms Ownership, 2006). 

                                                           
5  Any implication in the government’s brief that Mr. Bacon was an unlicensed 
dealer of firearms is spurious. He was not charged with that crime. Had he been 
charged with that crime, the government could not have proven he committed it. 
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Suppression 

 The government asserts, "[t]here is no basis for overturning the factual 

findings in this case." The government is wrong. In his opening brief Mr. Bacon 

established that the evidence demonstrated and proved beyond any doubt that the 

government brought only one warrant to Mr. Bacon's home. Since the agent who 

executed the warrant testified that he gave that warrant to Mr. Bacon's mother, that 

she kept the warrant, and that he later checked the warrant while he was away from 

her, it is unavoidable that the trial court's factual determination that the agent left 

the warrant with Mr. Bacon's mother when the search began is factually 

impossible. 

 The government's argument that suppression is not warranted even if its 

agent failed to deliver a copy of the warrant to Mr. Bacon's mother at the beginning 

of the search is incorrect. Suppression is a legitimate remedy - as is outright 

dismissal - for egregious governmental misconduct. United States v. Tweel, 550 

F2d 297, 300 (5th Cir. 1977). 

 Here, the government's agent testified that he knew that he was required to 

serve Mr. Bacon's mother with a copy of the warrant at the beginning of the search. 

He testified that he did just that. He then testified that he later inspected the 

warrant and determined that it was defective because it did not have the particular 

boxes checked.  
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 While the government's agent's failure to deliver a copy of the warrant to 

Mr. Bacon's mother at the beginning of the search may not have been egregious 

misconduct, his testimony about that delivery was egregious misconduct. No 

person should ever be prosecuted because of - or with - perjured testimony. 

Entrapment 

 The government's effort to convince this court that Mr. Bacon remembered 

his first contact with agent Zeisemer is unfortunate. According to agent Zeisemer, 

he first met Mr. Bacon at a busy gun show in early May of 2005. Agent Zeisemer 

was one of hundreds of people Mr. Bacon came into contact with during that gun 

show. Agent Zeisemer did nothing to make himself appear unusual, remarkable, or 

noteworthy. To the contrary, he blended in with the crowd. 

 The government did not even try to convince the jury that Mr. Bacon 

remembered his first contact with agent Zeisemer when he sold agent Zeisemer a 

firearm one and half month later. 

 Mr. Bacon accepts the 5 factors described in United States v. Marbella, 73 

F3d 1508 (9th Cir 1996). (1) Mr. Bacon has a sterling character. (2) The suggestion 

of the criminal activity was initially made by agent Zeisemer. (3) There was no 

evidence to support a finding that Mr. Bacon sold the firearms for a profit (selling 

an object for money does not imply or connote a profit motive). (4) There was little 

- if any - evidence to show that Mr. Bacon knew he was committing a crime by 

Page 7



selling firearms to agent Zeisemer. (5) The nature of the inducement supplied by 

the Government was not, in and of itself, illegal or out of the ordinary. 

 What the government has failed to address is the fact that selling a firearm to 

a person who resides in a different state is neither malum in se (e.g. murder) nor a 

notorious crime (e.g. possession of marijuana). The “crime” of selling a firearm to 

a person who resides in a different state is similar to an income tax crime – a crime 

the average person is ignorant about.  

 Selling a firearm is not illegal. This means, when a government agent asks 

you to sell him a firearm he does not put you on notice that he is asking you to 

commit a crime. Had agent Zeisemer asked Mr. Bacon to sell him a firearm, told 

Mr. Bacon directly and contemporaneously that he resided in Washington (and did 

not have an office in Oregon), and informed Mr. Bacon that it is illegal for an 

Oregonian to sell a firearm to a Washingtonian we would have a situation that is 

normally found in entrapment cases – the defendant knows he is being asked to 

commit a crime. 

 Using the Marbella factors here results in the jury needing to be instructed 

on entrapment. 

Timing 

 Contrary to the government’s assertion that the timing of the firearm sale to 

Scott Carrie was immaterial, timing was everything. The government fails to 
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explain that Carrie engaged in two gun transfers. One with Mr. Bacon and the 

second with Mr. Ozinski.  

 The July 24, 2005 BATFE form 4473 was accurate because the transfer to 

Scott Carrie occurred after the transfer to Mr. Bacon's brother. The 4473 accurately 

recorded and reflected the transfer to Mr. Bacon's brother. 

 The government has never provided a plausible explanation for why Mr. 

Bacon would benefit from transferring 12 firearms to his brother - and recording 

that transfer on a BATFE form 4473 - and then transferring one of those 12 

firearms to Mr. Carrie instead of recording the transfer of 11 firearms on the 

BATFE form 4473 for the sale to his brother and the transfer of 1 firearm on a 

separate BATFE form 4473 for the sale to Mr. Carrie. Noticeably absent from 

evidence was any testimony that Mr. Bacon asked Mr. Carrie (or anyone else) for 

extra compensation for keeping the firearm transfer to Mr. Carrie “off paper.” 

Starbucks Receipt 

 The government’s effort to diminish the significance of the Starbuck’s 

receipt is shameful. Even if the government did not know before closing argument 

that Mr. Bacon’s mother was not a coffee drinker, it provided the Court with no 

evidence Mr. Bacon’s affidavit in support of his motion for new trial was false6. In 

light of Mr. Bacon’s affidavit, the significance of the Starbuck’s receipt is 
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undeniable. Mr. Bacon had a coffee stained, if not iron clad, alibi for his location at 

9:00 a.m. on July 24, 2005 – many miles from Seaside, Oregon. The government 

asks, who else might have purchased the Starbucks coffee? The evidence points to 

only one person, David Bacon. That is, unless, other undisclosed people made a 

habit of dropping their receipts off at the Bacon home. 

18 USC §925(a)(1) 

 The government asserts that 18 USC §925(a)(1) "appears only to exempt the 

"transportation, shipment, receipt, possession, or importation" of firearms." 

Footnote 13. The government's reading of 18 USC §925(a) is both truncated and 

strained. 18 USC §925(a)(1) reads, in its entirety:  

"The provisions of this chapter, except for sections 922(d)(9) and 
922(g)(9) and provisions relating to firearms subject to the 
prohibitions of section 922(p), shall not apply with respect to the 
transportation, shipment, receipt, possession, or importation of any 
firearm or ammunition imported for, sold or shipped to, or issued for 
the use of, the United States or any department or agency thereof or 
any State or any department, agency, or political subdivision thereof." 

 

(Emphasis added.) 

 Since Mr. Bacon’s transfers and sales were to the government, the sales 

were legal. 

                                                                                                                                                                                           
6  A true copy of which affidavit is attached hereto, marked “Exhibit A,” and 
by this reference made a part hereof. See, District Court docket item 69. 
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Agent Zeisemer a Business Entity with an Office in Oregon 

 The government has not explained why Congress did not mean what is 

wrote. There is no canon of statutory construction that says criminal statutes should 

be read in a fashion that makes it easier for the government to collect admissible 

evidence that a crime has been committed. 

 Contrary to the government’s argument, Mr. Bacon has not argued that agent 

Zeisemer was a business entity whose business office was located in Oregon 

because the BATFE has an office in Oregon. Mr. Bacon’s argument is that agent 

Zeisemer was a business entity whose business office was located in Oregon 

because that is where agent Zeisemer’s office was located. 

 Should the BATFE desire to waste scarce resources by continuing to operate 

sting operations against Oregonians using BATFE agents, it might consider using 

agents whose offices are in states other than Oregon. 

 Dated this 20th day of October 2007. JAMES E. LEUENBERGER PC 
 
 
 
       ______________________ 
       James E. Leuenberger 
       Attorney for David Bacon  
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IN THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS 
 

FOR THE NINTH CIRCUIT 
 
 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, ) 
      ) 
  Plaintiff-Appellee,  ) CA No. 07-30082 
      ) 
  v.    )  
      ) 
DAVID BACON,    ) 
      ) 
  Defendant-Appellant. ) 

 
                                                    
 

BRIEF FORMAT CERTIFICATION 
PURSUANT TO RULE 32(a)(7)(C) 

                                                    
 

 Pursuant to Ninth Circuit Rule 32(a)(7)(C), I certify that the APPELLANT’S 

REPLY BRIEF is proportionately spaced, has a typeface of 14 points or more and 

contains 2,907 words. 

 Dated this 20th day of October 2007.  JAMES E. LEUENBERGER PC 
 
 
 
       ______________________ 
       James E. Leuenberger 
       Attorney for David Bacon 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 
 I hereby certify that I served the foregoing APPELLANT’S REPLY BRIEF 

on Assistant U.S. Attorney Thomas Edmonds by mailing, United States Postal 

Service, First Class, Postage Paid on October 20, 2007, two true, exact, and full 

copies thereof addressed to him at:  600 United States Courthouse, 1000 SW Third, 

Portland, OR 97204.  

       ______________________ 
       James E. Leuenberger 

Page 13


